

Contents

1	Pur	pose	. 4
2		initions	
3	Fun	ictions and Responsibilities	. 4
	3.1	General	. 4
	3.2	Legislative Obligations (Local Government Act 2020 (Vic))	. 5
4	Con	offlict of Interest	. 5
5	Cou	ıncil Contacts	. 6
3	Con	nmittee Governance	. 7
	6.1	Creation of a Community Asset Committee	. 7
	6.2	Committee Cycle	. 7
	6.3	Committee Structure	. 7
	6.4	Committee Membership	. 7
	6.4.	1 The New Committee Process	. 8
	6.4.	2 The Mid-Term Process	. 8
	6.4.	3 Eligibility	. 8
	6.4.	4 Volunteer Registration	. 8
	6.4.	5 Resignation from Committee	. 8
	6.4.	6 Termination of Membership	. 9
	6.5	Financial Management	. 9
	6.5.	1 Income and Expenditure	. 9
	6.5.	2 GST	. 9
	6.5.	3 Income and Fees	10
	6.5.	4 Expenditure	10
	6.5.	5 Bookkeeping	10
	6.5.	6 Financial Controls	11
	6.5.	7 Budget	11
	6.6	Committee Handover	11
	6.7	Reporting Requirements	12
	6.8	Committee Meetings	13
	6.8.	1 Meeting Schedule	13
	6.8.	2 Agendas and Minutes	13
	6.8.	3 Attendance	14
	6.8.	4 Quorum	14
	6.8.	5 Conduct	14
	6.8.	6 Decisions	14
	6.9	The Annual General Meeting	15
	6.9.	1 Notice of AGM	15

	6.	9.2	Order of Business	16
	6.	9.3	Duties of the Secretary	16
	6.	9.4	Duties of the Treasurer	16
	6.	9.5	Duties of the Chairperson	16
	6.	9.6	Election of Office Bearers	16
7	Fa	acility M	anagement	17
	7.1	Acce	ess and Inclusion	17
	7.2	Was	te and Sewerage	17
	7.3	Alloc	ating and Controlling Use	17
	7.4	Asse	t Management	18
	7.5	Capi	tal Works	18
	7.6	Third	l Party Hire	18
8	ln	surance	1	18
	8.1	Publ	ic Liability and Risk Management	18
	8.	1.1	Third Party Users	19
	8.2	Build	ling (Property) Insurance	20
	8.3	Excl	usions	20
9	R	isk Man	agement	20
	9.1	Publ	ic Safety	21
	9.2	Regu	ılar Inspection	21
	9.3	Faul	t/Defect Reporting	21
	9.4	Main	tenance	22
	9.5	Eme	rgency Diagrams and Procedures	22
	9.6	Failu	re to meet Risk Management Requirements	22
10)	Securit	y	22
1	1	Events	Management	22
12	2	Docum	ent Control	23
Α	ppen	dix 1	Committee Member Roles	24
Α	ppen	dix 2	Liability Claim Procedures	26

1 Purpose

Community Asset Committees are established under section 65 of the Local Government Act. They play a crucial role in managing assets owned by Council to promote inclusive, accessible, and community-oriented use of the facility. Because they are Committees governed by the *Local Government Act 2020*, they are delegated powers, duties, and responsibilities through an Instrument of Delegation. A separate Instrument of Delegation exists for each Community Asset Committee and sets out the specific responsibilities and powers of that Committee. This means that —

- lawful actions of the Community Asset Committees are in effect actions of the Council; and
- Committees are protected by insurance applicable to Council.

Please refer to the Community Asset Committee Instrument of Delegation and Schedule for more information relating to the purpose and responsibilities of specific committees.

2 Definitions

AGM means Annual General Meeting

Council means Hindmarsh Shire Council

CAC means Community Asset Committee

CEO means Chief Executive Officer

EA means Executive Assistant

3 Functions and Responsibilities

3.1 General

Key roles and functions of the Committee are to:

- 1. Control, manage and maintain the land and facilities in an efficient and effective manner, in the best interests of Council, residents and users of the facilities within the boundaries specified in the Instrument of Delegation.
- 2. Maintain the highest level of cooperation between the Council, the Committee, and the local community.
- 3. Promote interest in the facility.
- 4. Apply procedures, rules, and conditions of use necessary for the proper use of the facility.
- 5. Ensure that these procedures, rules, and conditions of use must be consistent with the objectives of the Committee stated in the Instrument of Delegation, these guidelines, and any policies of the Council.
- 6. Report any breaches of rules, conditions of use and local laws, which cannot appropriately be dealt with by the Committee to the Council.
- 7. Ensure compliance with all Acts, regulations, and other legal requirements at the facility.

- 8. Not commit, or permit to be committed, any act which will have a negative impact on any of the Council's insurance policies.
- 9. Ensure the facility is always kept in a clean condition and is used in a reasonable and lawful manner by all groups and individuals.

3.2 Legislative Obligations (Local Government Act 2020 (Vic))

As a Committee established under the provisions of **section 65** of the Act, decisions made by the Committee are in law decisions of the Council. This means that Committees must meet certain governance and reporting requirements and must make considered and informed decisions.

Under section 47 of the Act, a delegation to members of the Committee is exercised subject to the terms and conditions specified by the CEO. These include –

- A specified limit on any financial delegation and the specific purpose for which that financial delegation may be used.
- Compliance with governance requirements to ensure appropriate standards of probity are met.
- Specific monitoring and reporting of the activities and performance of Community Asset Committees.

A member of a Community Asset Committee to whom a delegation is given under this section of the Act can only exercise the delegation while acting as a member of the Community Asset Committee at a meeting of the Community Asset Committee.

The Chief Executive Officer must submit an annual report to Council in relation to the activities and performance of a Community Asset Committee, so it is important that Committees provide Council with any requested information and reports in a timely manner.

4 Conflict of Interest

The Local Government Act 2020 defines general and material conflicts of interest. A general conflict of interest arises if a committee member has an interest in a matter that is being considered by the committee if an impartial, fair-minded person would consider that the member's private interests could result in that person acting in a manner that is contrary to their public duty.

A material conflict of interest arises if a committee member would gain a benefit or suffer a loss depending on the outcome of the matter before the committee.

The Act also provides exemptions for remoteness and interests in common with a substantial proportion of ratepayers along with other specific circumstances.

For further details regarding general or material conflicts of interest refer to sections 127 and 128 of the *Local Government Act 2020* or contact Hindmarsh Shire Council's Manager Governance and Human Services on 5391 4444.

Committee members are required to:

- **Avoid** all situations which may give rise to conflicts of interest;
- Identify any conflicts of interest; and
- Disclose or declare all conflicts of interest.

Committee members may not participate in discussion or decision-making on a matter in which they have a conflict of interest. When disclosing a conflict of interest, they must clearly state their

connection to the matter. All disclosures of conflicts of interest must be recorded in the minutes of a Committee Meeting.

At the time indicated in the Agenda, a Committee member with a conflict of interest in an item on that agenda must indicate they have a conflict of interest by clearly stating:

- 1. The item for which they have a conflict of interest; and
- 2. Whether their conflict of interest is general or material; and
- 3. The circumstances that give rise to the conflict of interest.

Immediately prior to the consideration of the item in which they have a conflict of interest, the Committee member must indicate to the meeting the existence of the conflict of interest and leave the meeting. A Committee member who is not present at the designated time in the agenda for disclosures of conflicts of interest, must disclose their conflict of interest in the manner that is required for the declarations of conflicts of interest above prior to leaving the meeting.

A Committee member who discloses a conflict of interest and leaves the meeting must not communicate with any participants in the meeting while the decision is being made.

5 Council Contacts

Executive Assistant (EA) Contact Areas

- Returning all required financial and annual/bi-annual reports as required by this manual and the Instrument of Delegation via s86@hindmarsh.vic.gov.au
- Advising EA at least 30 days before planned Annual General Meeting date so that the EA can advertise the proposed meeting as required.

Manager Governance and Human Services and/or Director Corporate & Community Services Contact Areas

- Governance queries
- Guidance on powers, duties or procedural matters
- Insurance queries

Environmental Health Officer Contact Areas

 Instruction/guidance on food preparation, storage and handling requirements, registration of food premises, food stall holders and event caterers

Team Leader Facilities Contact Area

Any queries relating to the maintenance of facilities

Human Resources Contact Area

Volunteer registration requirements

Manager Finance and Customer Services Contact Area

• Financial management and expenditure

6 Committee Governance

6.1 Creation of a Community Asset Committee

Where Council has delegated this power to the CEO, a Committee may be created through the establishment of an Instrument of Delegation from the Chief Executive Officer under section 47 of the Act. Once the Committee has been established in this manner, Council shall call for membership as per section 5.4.

6.2 Committee Cycle

Committees are established for either two or four financial-year cycles. At the end of each cycle, all positions will be declared vacant and re-appointment of a Committee shall occur as per section 5.4.1. The Wimmera Mallee Pioneer Museum Community Asset Committee and Yurunga Homestead Community Asset Committee shall be two-year terms, and all other Community Asset Committees will be four-year terms.

6.3 Committee Structure

Committees shall have a minimum of **4 members** and a maximum of **12 members** – any Councillor or Council Officer who attends meetings is not considered a member. If the Committee's membership is currently in excess of 12, all members shall see out their terms and at the next Committee renewal date, only 12 member positions shall be filled.

The minimum formal positions to be filled are -

Chairperson/President

Responsible for facilitating the operation of the Committee through the chairing of meetings, ensuring administrative and reporting functions are carried out, chairing meetings, liaising between Council and the Committee, and ensuring that all procedures and the relevant Instrument of Delegation is adhere to.

Secretary

Responsible for administrative processes, arranging of meetings, keeping of the Agenda and Minutes, managing incoming and outgoing correspondence, and records-keeping.

• Treasurer

Responsible for keeping the Committees financial records and transactions in good order, paying, and receiving accounts for the Committee (within delegation), providing the Committee and Council accurate financial reports, keeping all invoices, receipts, and financial records for auditing purposes.

The position of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the same person, but the Chairperson position must be the sole officer-bearer position of any Committee member. The roles of each position are detailed in *Appendix 1*.

6.4 Committee Membership

There are two processes by which new Committee members are appointed – immediately prior to a new Committee term (as per the Committee cycle) – the **New Committee Process**, and out-of-term where there is a vacancy – the **Mid-Term Process**. The details of these two processes are outlined below, with both processes requiring the same *Committee Expression of Interest Form*.

Members will be appointed for the term of the Committee (2-4 years) unless they become members through the mid-term process. Members may be removed by Council at any time.

A member of the Committee shall be eligible for re-election or re-nomination at the expiration of their period of office.

A member of the Committee may resign their position at any time.

6.4.1 The New Committee Process

In the month of March prior to the end of the Committee's term, Council will commence a formal nomination period and will call for expressions of interest via public notice. Council Officers will provide a report of applications to Council and new Committee members shall be appointed prior to the end of the Financial Year by Council resolution. Council Officers will arrange the date of the AGM and advertise the AGM, whereby Committees can appoint members to office-bearing positions. A general meeting may be held after the AGM to establish a work plan, meeting plan and to make any pertinent decisions relating to Committee responsibilities.

6.4.2 The Mid-Term Process

Where the Committee has not met its membership limit through the formal nomination period, or resignations result in vacancies, new members may be appointed through the submission of a Committee Expression of Interest form available from Council. These forms shall be submitted to Council for consideration at the next Ordinary meeting. Council will advise the Committee of any new member appointments. The term of membership for members appointed through this process shall be the length of time before the end of the Committee's term.

New members cannot be recommended for appointment at a meeting held by the Committee.

6.4.3 Eligibility

Eligibility for membership requires that an applicant be -

- being over 18 years of age
- are not insolvent (unable to pay debts as they become due and payable)
- have not been convicted of any indictable offence (a serious crime that is tried by a judge)
- have not been convicted of fraud (convicted by a court of obtaining of material advantage by unfair or wrongful means or an intentional dishonest act done with the purpose of deceiving)
- have not committed any other act or omission that might render or be seen to render them unfit for them to be a member of the Community Asset Committee
- nominees to the Community Asset Committee should not have criminal convictions, financial or taxation dealings that might render or be seen to render them unfit for office.

6.4.4 Volunteer Registration

All members of Committees must register as volunteers of Council and comply with all registration requirements, including a police check and volunteer Working with Children's Check. Letters confirming Council provisional approval of membership will provide prospective members with a complete list of requirements as determined by the Council and/or the CEO from time to time.

6.4.5 Resignation from Committee

Members may resign from the Committee at any time. The resignation should be provided to the Chairperson (or Secretary if the person resigning is the Chairperson) and noted in the minutes of the next Committee meeting.

6.4.5.1 Resignation of an Office-bearer to Remain on Committee

If it is the Chairperson who is resigning, they must submit their notice of resignation to the Committee. At the next Committee meeting, the Committee should call for nominations for a replacement Chairperson and elect another member to this position as the first order of business. Until a

replacement Chair has been appointed, the meeting can be chaired by the Secretary, or upon request and subject to availability, a Councillor of Council officer may be able to attend and chair this portion of the meeting.

To resign from any other officer bearer position, but not from the Committee, the office-bearer should provide their resignation in writing to the Chair. At the next Committee meeting, the Committee should call for nominations for a replacement office-bearer and elect another member to this position.

While the person may act in this position immediately after election, they shall not be formally confirmed until the minutes of the meeting where they were elected are endorsed by Council.

6.4.6 Termination of Membership

Where Council has determined that a committee member has engaged in misconduct or has breached their responsibilities, Council may dismiss them.

Committee members are also required to declare anything that may prevent them from fulfilling their volunteer duties. This may also result in temporary or final termination. The record of reasons for termination will be filed on the relevant corporate file and recorded in the database.

At the end of the two-year Committee term, all positions will be declared vacant.

6.5 Financial Management

Keeping track of financial records is a key task of the Committee. It is essential for keeping Council, the Community and user groups informed about the financial sustainability of the facility.

The Committee's financial year shall commence on 1 July in each year and end on 30 June in the following year.

The Committee shall ensure that the financial decisions do not affect the integrity of the Council's budget.

6.5.1 Income and Expenditure

Revenue received by a Committee must be directed to activities associated with the facility. From funds received, the Committee may pay the cost of maintenance, electricity and gas usage, and water charges, as the Committee determines. Funds cannot be used for catering for meetings, given as loans or used by members for private purposes.

Committees are not required to spend all revenue in the year it is received, and it is wise to carry forward some funds into the next year. It is also acceptable if a Committee has planned for a large development in the next few years to accumulate the funds required for it (e.g. major renovations). Expenditure will be limited to improvements on the facility and by the instrument of delegation.

Committees should not carry excessive funds for no foreseeable purpose. Council owned reserves, museums, and historical buildings are public assets and funds should be spent on maintaining or enhancing the facility.

6.5.2 GST

The committee, by definition under the *Local Government Act 2020* is part of Council. The committee must use Council's ABN 26 550 541 746 and charge GST when issuing tax invoices for hire or use of facilities, or for the sale of any goods or services.

GST is currently 10% and can be calculated as follows:

To identify:	Calculation	
GST Amount	Exclusive amount x .10 or	
	Inclusive amount / 11	

Inclusive Amount	Exclusive amount + GST amount, or Exclusive amount x 1.1		
Exclusive Amount	Inclusive amount – GST amount, or		
	Inclusive amount / 1.1		

6.5.3 Income and Fees

Whenever the Committee receives money, a receipt should be issued. A carbon duplicate book should be used to record all receipts, unless an electronic receipt can be issued from an appropriate electronic software package that is being used by the Committee. This is a practical safeguard against the possibility of error or disagreement.

There may be times when issuing individual receipts is not feasible. For example, if the Committee is organising a fund-raising event or calculating entry fees, it would be impractical to write out a receipt for every person. Two members of the Committee, preferably not the Treasurer should be responsible for collecting and accounting the money prior to handing to the Treasurer. One receipt should then be written for the total amount.

If fees are collected, they must be used responsibly and:

- should be in line with similar rates in the area so that the maximum public benefit is gained for use of a public asset; and
- should not use the advantage of lower overheads associated with Council to the disadvantage of competing activities on private land: and
- should include GST.

If normal rates do not seem appropriate, reasonable fees for the purpose must be set. For example, non-profit community groups may receive a discount rate.

As part of the Annual General Meeting the Committee must propose facility fees and submit to Council for approval and endorsement.

6.5.4 Expenditure

Payments shall be authorised in accordance with the requirements in the Financial Controls section and should be made by either:

- Cheque
- Electronically through internet banking

As each cheque is drawn or electronic payment made, the paperwork detailing the expenditure should be retained and filed in cheque number or date order. If there is no paperwork, then a cheque or payment voucher should be drawn up giving details of the payment, i.e. payee, amount, date, cheque number and what the payment is for.

Committee members may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses approved by the committee but cannot receive honorariums. No member of the Community Asset Committee should be receiving payment from the Committee for their contribution to the running of the Community Asset Committee.

6.5.5 Bookkeeping

Electronic bookkeeping software can be used to record the Committee's transactions. If recording manually, a cashbook is required.

The cashbook is the principal book of accounts. One section is for money received with varying number of columns to detail all the major areas of income. The second section is for expenditure, again with several columns to detail all the major areas of expenditure. Books with varying numbers

of columns are available through newsagents or stationers. All cashbooks should now have a separate column for recording GST receipts and payments.

Money received

From the receipt book, enter the details to the cashbook with the money going into the amount and detail column. For ease of balancing to your bank statement, a second amount column marked "bank" can be kept and the total banked each day added into this column. At the end of each month add the columns and balance the totals to the total banked.

Payments

As with money received, there is a bank column and several analysis columns. Enter the amount of each cheque drawn or electronic payment made in the bank column as well as in the relevant analysis column. At the end of each month total the analysis columns and balance the totals with the bank column. The monthly totals should be added progressively month by month until after twelve months the totals are available for the yearly financial return.

6.5.6 Financial Controls

The Committee as a whole, not just the Treasurer, is responsible for the financial affairs of the organisation. The Committee must see monthly reports of income and expenditure and must approve of all expenses paid, or to be paid, for the month.

Authorisation

The Instrument of Delegation will determine authorisation limits. The Committee should set definite limits on expenditure and on the persons authorised to purchase under the delegation.

The Treasurer may be authorised by the Committee to pay regular accounts or spend funds up to an agreed limit. Large expenditure should be discussed at a Committee meeting and be agreed upon by the majority.

Cheque signing or electronic approvals

The bank account shall require two people to sign each cheque or authorise electronic payments. This should be arranged by having three Committee Members authorised with their signatures registered with the bank, with any two to sign each cheque or authorise electronic payments.

Cheques should always be crossed, marked not negotiable and the details entered before being signed.

6.5.7 Budget

The Committee should, as the financial year-end approaches, give serious consideration to producing a budget for the following financial year and present this at the AGM. This can easily be carried out by looking at the income and expenditure pattern for the current year. Add to that any extra works/services that the Committee would like to see in place and determine the overall estimated expenditure.

Once the expenditure is set, then the Committee can look at the options available to fund the expenditure. Remember that inflation will influence the cost of services and an allowance should be built into each item to cover the likely increased cost.

6.6 Committee Handover

The existing Committee has a responsibility to hand over to the incoming Committee; some of these responsibilities include the following:

The outgoing treasurer should:

- prepare a financial report and have it verified by the incoming Committee
- provide copies of any business plans and financial reports prepared over the Committees term
- advise the incoming Committee of any committed funds
- organise the changeover of bank account details
- advise Council of the incoming Committee's contact details, if applicable
- advise service providers (e.g. gas and water) of the incoming Committee's contact details, and
- handover the books to the incoming Committee.

The outgoing secretary should:

- hand over all correspondence, including the previous meeting minutes and all copies of these guidelines
- provide copies of all management plans or statements, and corresponding performance reports, prepared by the Committee over its term
- provide all details to the incoming Committee of any contracts (e.g. leases, licenses or any other contracts for services)
- hand over employment details and staff contracts
- hand over passwords for email addresses and social media platforms (if applicable), and
- notify Council of new officer bearers and Committee membership.

Note: For data and access security purposes, the new Committee is responsible for changing the passwords on commencement.

The outgoing Chairperson should ensure that the handover is completed in a timely and professional manner, and that the incoming Committee is adequately briefed.

The incoming Committee members should familiarise themselves with:

- their responsibilities, both as Committee and as individual Committee members, by reading these guidelines, and
- the particulars of the facility they have been appointed to manage including, if necessary, reviewing and updating the management plan or management statement.

New Committee members are not formally appointed until approved by Council and all volunteer paperwork has been completed.

6.7 Reporting Requirements

Annual reports must be submitted to Council on the Financial and general activity of the Committee. This includes:

- Financial report
- Report on the Committee's current financial position, transactions since the last Committee meeting and details regarding the bank balance
- Updated Asset Register (not applicable to all Committees)
- Updated Volunteer Register

Activity Report

6.8 Committee Meetings

Committee meetings are required to comply with the Hindmarsh Shire Council Governance Rules.

6.8.1 Meeting Schedule

Each Committee is free to decide meeting times and schedules. Committees should be meeting as often as necessary to ensure good management of the facility. At a minimum, Council expects that Committees meet twice per year.

A notice of meeting, typically incorporated with the agenda, is to be circulated 7 days prior to the proposed meeting date.

6.8.2 Agendas and Minutes

Prior to any meeting an **Agenda** is prepared. The agenda is a short document that sets out the business to be dealt with at the meeting.

Usually the Secretary, in consultation with the Chairperson, prepares the agenda, but all Committee members can nominate items of business to be included on the meeting agenda. These should be provided to the Chair at a minimum, 7 days prior to the next scheduled meeting.

When circulating the agenda, the minutes of the previous meeting and any reports to be considered at the meeting are usually attached.

At the start of the meeting the Chairperson usually asks (a) if there are other items of business that any member wishes to be added to the agenda, and (b) if any member wishes to change the order of the agenda. The addition of new items at the meeting is generally acceptable, but if those items are contentious and/or some members are absent from the meeting, the Chairperson may decide to refer such items to a subsequent meeting of the Committee.

Minutes are a formal, written record of a meeting and must be kept for all meetings of the Committee.

At a minimum the minutes should record:

- Time the meeting started and finished
- Location of the meeting
- Names of the Committee members present
- Apologies received
- Conflicts of Interest declared
- List of all items of business considered
- Exact wording of any motions moved, including the name of the mover and seconders, and the mover and seconder of any amendments to the motion
- Results of consideration of any motions carried, lost, withdrawn, lapsed, amended
- Details of any questions taken on notice
- Details of any deputations made to the Committee, or any guest speakers

The minutes should enable a Committee member not present at the meeting to be informed of all actions and decision arising and the reasons for those actions and decisions.

Every page of the minutes should be numbered and bear the date of the meeting.

Minutes are a permanent record of the Committee's decisions and proceedings. The Secretary should keep a minute book that will be passed on to the incoming Secretary at the end of the Committee's

term. In the longer term the minute books must be stored and archived in accordance with the *Public Records Act 1973* (Vic) because Community Asset Committees are public bodies.

The minutes of a meeting should be endorsed by the following meeting as being a true and accurate record. The motion endorsing the minutes of a previous meeting should only be moved and seconded by members who attended.

Upon ratification of the previous meeting's minutes, the Chairperson should sign the minutes. Once endorsed by the signing of the Chairperson, they should not be altered.

All meeting minutes need to be submitted to Council within twenty-one (21) days of the meeting.

6.8.3 Attendance

Committee members are expected to attend all meetings, but illness, family crisis or other good reasons may result in absences. The Chair, secretary or other office bearer should be contacted to tender apologies, which will be recorded in the minutes. It is important that apologies are tendered and accepted by the Committee. Any member's position on a Committee can become vacant if they are absent from three (3) consecutive meetings.

6.8.4 **Quorum**

A quorum is the minimum number of members of the Community Asset Committee who must be present for the Committee to make decisions (a majority) (half the membership + 1).

If, thirty minutes (or some other time generally agreed by the Committee as appropriate) after the start of the meeting a quorum has not been obtained, the Chairperson will decide to:

- postpone the meeting, or
- conduct the scheduled business of the Committee, but refer all decisions and motions to a subsequent meeting when a quorum is present for reconsideration and/or ratification.

If, at any time during the meeting a quorum cannot be maintained, the Chairperson will decide to:

- · close the meeting and refer any unfinished business to a subsequent meeting, or
- continue to conduct the scheduled business of the Committee, but refer all decisions and motions made with no quorum present to a subsequent meeting when a quorum is present for reconsideration and/or ratification.

6.8.5 Conduct

Members of Community Asset Committees are required to act appropriately in their role to ensure that public resources are used prudently for the public interest and as representatives of Hindmarsh Shire Council. This includes acting in good faith, with integrity, exercising impartiality, treating others with respect, and exercising due care and diligence when conducting their Committee role. As per Council's Volunteer Policy, volunteers must adhere to Council's Code of Conduct.

6.8.6 Decisions

Matters being discussed at meetings are determined by a majority of voters of members present. If there is an equal number of votes, the Chairperson may exercise a casting vote to resolve the matter.

Each decision of the Committee should be made by a formal vote and recorded in the minutes. The standard method of voting is a show of hands. The Chairperson calls first for those in favour of a motion and then for those opposed to a motion, the motion is determined by the majority vote and then declares the result to the meeting. In the event of a tied vote, the Chairperson may exercise a

casting vote. Unless otherwise prohibited by the Act, each member of the Committee present must vote.

Decisions are made by passing motions. Any Committee member may move a motion and the Chairperson accepts the motion for consideration. This could be as simple as:

"I move that the Treasurer's report be accepted," Bill Smith moves. "I second that motion," says Mary Black.

The Chairperson says: "All in favour." (counts ten raised hands) "All against." (counts no raised hands) "The motion is carried."

The minutes will record the wording of the motion, who moved it, who seconded it, whether it was CARRIED or LOST.

For Example:

MOTION:

"That the Treasurer's report be accepted as presented"

BS/MB

CARRIED

Committees may have motions that are more complicated and contentious arising from their discussions. In such cases it might be useful for the motion to be written down and read out or circulated prior to voting so that everyone is clear about what is being decided.

If a vote is tied, the chairperson has the casting vote.

A Committee can only make decisions (i.e. move and pass motions) if a quorum of its membership is at the meeting.

Any decision of the Committee, which the Committee does not have delegated power to implement, cannot be implemented until approved by the Council.

6.9 The Annual General Meeting

The AGM is the public meeting where the Committee reports to its community on its activities and appoints office-bearing positions. The AGM is required to be held between 1 July and 30 October each year. For the first year of the Community Asset Committee cycle, the date of the first AGM will be co-ordinated by Council. In the second year, the date will be set by the Committee.

6.9.1 Notice of AGM

When a new Committee has been established, Council will co-ordinate with the new Committee and set the AGM date. Council will arrange for the AGM to be advertised via public notice in relevant local newspapers for the two weeks prior to the meeting (as per section 6.4.1.).

In the second year of the Committee's cycle, the Secretary shall notify the EA a minimum of five (5) weeks prior to the date of the Annual General Meeting so that Council can advertise the date by way of a notice in the public notices section of the local newspaper circulating in the area for the two weeks prior.

6.9.2 Order of Business

The AGM includes:

- Receive and confirm the minutes of the previous AGM
- Receive an Annual Report that includes the Chairpersons report of the Committee's activities, operations, and usage of the facility for the previous 12 months
- Receive the Treasurers report including the Financial Report for end of financial year
- Receive an outline of the Committee's proposed activities for the next 12 months, which may also include seeking the community's approval of those plans
- Election of office-bearing positions.

Attendees can ask questions of the Committee (only in the time set aside in the meeting to do so), but it is not a forum for taking motions from the floor or voting on proposals. These actions can only be undertaken by Committee members and any such business should be held over to the next regular meeting.

6.9.3 Duties of the Secretary

Prior to the AGM, the Secretary should:

- Notify Hindmarsh Shire Council five (5) weeks prior to the date of the meeting including date, time, location and a contact person
- Distribute information and Committee Expression of Interest forms on request
- Ensure the annual report is complete and available for inspection at the meeting
- Ensure that all the necessary equipment is available for the meeting
- Bring a list of all new/returning members received from Council
- In conjunction with the Chairperson, prepare a meeting agenda for distribution at the meeting

6.9.4 Duties of the Treasurer

Prior to the AGM:

Ensure the Financial Report is ready for inspection at the meeting

6.9.5 Duties of the Chairperson

Prior to the election, the Chairperson/President shall:

- State the purpose of the meeting which is to elect executive office bearers to the Committee for the following 12 months
- Clearly identify the facility over which the Community Asset Committee is to be appointed and clearly define the "community of interest" for those present
- Nominate the Committee members who will be responsible for presenting the reports to the meeting, providing a summary, and answer any questions
- Describe how the meeting will be conducted, and the process for the election
- Hand over to the Council representative present to be the Chairperson conducting the election of nominated members

The Chairperson/President shall be responsible for ensuring that all reporting requirements are submitted/lodged with Council within 21 days of holding the AGM.

6.9.6 Election of Office Bearers

The duties of the outgoing Chairperson, Secretary or Council representative are:

- Declare positions vacant from the specified date
- Call for nominations (if applicable) for the relevant Committee positions
- Verify the eligibility of all nominations

- After a reasonable interval, declare nominations closed
- If the number of candidates is less than the number of vacancies, declare all candidates as the successful recommended candidates
- If the number of candidates exceeds the number of vacancies, announce that an election will be held and give details on how it will be conducted. For example, each eligible voter can only cast one vote for one candidate
- Conduct the vote and declare the positions held. These should be noted in the minutes for Council endorsement.

The Chairperson/president is responsible for providing Council with a copy of the AGM Minutes within in 21 days of holding the AGM so that Office Bearers can be endorsed at the next Council meeting.

7 Facility Management

7.1 Access and Inclusion

Council is committed to promoting an inclusive municipality that respects human rights and fosters participation in all aspects of community life. The main guiding principle for managing a public facility is use and enjoyment for all. This needs to be balanced with the need to protect and maintain the facility, its natural features, and its assets.

Community Asset Committees must ensure that all community members are treated equally and feel safe to enter and/or hire the facility and participate in activities.

Community Asset Committees can reach out to Council for support in implementing access and inclusion initiatives.

7.2 Waste and Sewerage

A Committee will be invoiced for the use of any water and sewerage services for its facility. This includes both service and usage charges.

A Committee is responsible for any fees and charges related to waste collection. Please contact Council if you require any further information regarding contracts for waste collection.

7.3 Allocating and Controlling Use

If all or part of the facility requires protection, a Committee may control its use by limiting numbers and types of users, physical access, the times and conditions of use, and access. For example, a reserve for conservation purposes may need limited public access to areas of the reserve undergoing re-vegetation.

Rules (regulations) and pricing (fees) are two effective mechanisms to allocate and regulate use.

A Committee can establish sub-committees to assist in the management of the asset. Sub-Committees may be either standing Committees with ongoing functions (e.g. finance sub-Committee) or working groups for a task (e.g. spring planting sub-Committee).

Sub-Committees have no power in their own right. Their recommendations must be brought back to a full Committee for consideration and resolution.

7.4 Asset Management

As part of its financial records, a Committee must maintain an asset register with details of all assets including buildings and facilities. The register should contain:

- description of each asset make, model, serial number
- the date it was purchased
- purchase price / an estimate of its value

Each year, the assets value should be adjusted to reflect depreciation (for physical assets such as buildings, equipment, and stock).

Council will have the physical assets recorded in their books. The Committee of Management and relevant user groups must keep a list of their contents/assets as well, to be provided to Council as part of the annual reporting process.

7.5 Capital Works

The Committee:

- Must not carry out or authorise any capital works, extensions or additions which materially alter the buildings or surrounds of the facility without prior approval from the Council
- Is encouraged to investigate and make recommendations in writing to the Council on the development of future capital works and the provision of future facilities and amenities for the facility
- Must consult with organisations who use the facility as part of the development of said recommendations

7.6 Third Party Hire

The Committee is responsible for entering into agreements with hirers of the facilities in accordance with the conditions of hire developed by Council to ensure that users of the facility comply with conditions set for the care, protection and management of the facilities set out in policies of the Committee and the Council's Local Laws and policies. Committees must ensure that users of the facility make good any wilful or accidental damage caused during use.

8 Insurance

Hindmarsh Shire Council's insurance program covers Community Asset Committees relating to:

- Public liability insurance cover for injury or loss to third parties (on Council Land)
- Professional indemnity insurance cover for Community Asset Committees and their volunteers (cover extends to registered volunteers and Committee members when engaged in voluntary activities organised or authorised by or under the control of Council).
- Council has personal accident insurance cover, which applies to approved Community Asset Committee activities (this excludes out of pocket medical expenses).
- Asset/Property cover for damage to Council managed/insured buildings (an excess applies and is payable by the Committee)
- All policies are subject to terms and conditions including limitations of cover and exclusions for cover.

8.1 Public Liability and Risk Management

Council requires the Asset Committee to minimise incidents through sound risk management.

Committees' responsibilities as managers of Council facilities for public liability insurance policies are to:

- Avoid situations that may give rise to a claim
- Control and record any incident that may lead to a claim being made
- Prepare for a claim to be made resulting from an incident no matter how remote it may seem
- Report all property damage/maintenance issues that may contribute to a claim

In the event of any incident, Committees are required to follow Councils' incident and claims procedures as detailed below.

- Report all incidents accidents or property losses to Council as soon as possible
- All losses and claims that are not reported in a timely manner can be denied by Councils insurer
- All incidents that are potential claims need to be handled sensitively and as soon as possible after they occur
- A detailed investigation will be carried out by Council

In all cases where a member of the public is injured or has property damaged:

- Action needs to be taken to minimize the chance of any further incidents by securing unsafe areas or facilities
- First aid and medical care should be provided immediately, and prompt and proper care provided to any injured person

The Liability Claim Procedure is outlined in Appendix 2.

8.1.1 Third Party Users

Hindmarsh Shire Council's public liability insurance policy does not extend to cover or indemnify third party users of Council facilities against claims from other users of the facility. This includes casual hirers and users, long-term users, and tenants.

Individual user groups need to provide evidence to the Community Asset Committee of appropriate public liability and participant insurance cover (where applicable).

It is essential that Council and its Committees are protected from the liability and negligence claims that may arise from the use of Council property.

8.1.1.1 Regular Users

The Committee shall require each organisation which rents or uses the facility to:

- Arrange and maintain insurance policies for any contents which they store at the Facility; and
- Arrange and maintain public liability insurance policies for a minimum of \$20 million for each and every incident, and to submit a "Certificate of Currency" for each insurance policy and forward copies of all certificates to Council.

8.1.1.2 Casual Hirers

All hirers must be the holder of a public liability insurance policy for a minimum of \$20 million for each and every incident. In some circumstances casual hirers may obtain cover through Council for a fee. This can be used for one off hire for certain functions. Casual hirers should contact Council and request access to their Community Liability Application Form.

8.2 Building (Property) Insurance

Report all property damage, storm, flood damage, theft or any other type of property damage to Council immediately. Council's insurer can deny claims that are not reported in a timely manner.

Council recommends that all user groups obtain their own contents insurance, as Council does not have insurance cover for these items. Community asset committees are not user groups.

The building (property) insurance excess may be payable by the committee or by Council depending on the nature of the claim.

8.3 Exclusions

Committees should be aware that there are some activities that are not covered by Council's insurance or require an extension of Council's insurance to cover. These include festivals, markets, fireworks, etc. If your Committee is holding an activity or hiring the facility for an activity that may be excluded from Council's insurance – you are required to contact the Council for confirmation. Council Officers will be happy to assist with advice and information if further insurance is required for any activities.

9 Risk Management

A 'risk' is the chance of something occurring that has the potential to cause loss, damage or injury. 'Risk management' involves identifying risks and taking precautionary measures to minimize the chance that a particular event will occur.

Risk management is setting in place practices and processes that enable risks to be identified, minimized and dealt with. Risk management seeks to minimize the impact of undesirable events, without discouraging appropriate risk taking and initiative.

Committees are strongly urged to undertake a formal risk assessment in company with the Council, develop a risk management plan and conduct an annual review. It is better to plan for risks than to think about them after something has gone wrong.

The Community Asset Committee is required to:

• Ensure users are aware of the location of emergency exits and fire protection equipment and emergency response procedures

Advise the Council immediately of an incident likely to give rise to:

- Injury to any person
- Damage to any property associated with the facilities (damage may be to the facilities or other parties)

A Hazard, Incident or injury report form should be used to record the details. Refer any public liability insurance claimants directly to Hindmarsh Shire Council.

A safe work method statement form should be used by committees to ensure maintenance tasks are conducted safely and with the appropriate risk control measures.

Any committees that have purchased equipment such as mowers and trimmers must ensure that all maintenance is conducted in line with the product specifications and that faults/repairs/repairer information is recorded.

9.1 Public Safety

Your Committee must take all reasonable steps to protect the public and take reasonable care to avoid a foreseeable risk of injury to anyone lawfully entering your facility.

This section gives details of the standards that Committees need to maintain to ensure that harmful events are minimized and that when they do occur, it is not because of a Committee's negligence.

The aim of a public safety program is to establish procedures to prevent injury to members of the public or damage to third party property.

Committees are required to check the current safety levels and undertake any repairs and improvements as necessary to bring the facility up to the appropriate standard, and maintain that standard. To do that it requires regular inspections, a maintenance program and a system for reporting and remedying faults and defects.

9.2 Regular Inspection

The purpose of regular inspections is to detect and repair faults and defects before members of the public, employees or volunteers are injured, or the faults and defects cause a more rapid depreciation of the assets and hence higher maintenance and repair costs.

Inspections should be conducted regularly using a checklist. The frequency of inspection will vary with the type, nature and uses of the particular facility. Records should be maintained of the facility to be inspected, including details of each inspection and:

- Who undertook the inspection
- The date of the inspection
- Copies of the checklist
- · Results of the inspection and any corrective action required; and
- Dates the corrective actions were taken and why.

9.3 Fault/Defect Reporting

Faults and defects will be identified as part of the regular inspections, but will also be identified at other times by different people including Committee members, users of the facility and the general public. They may be fixed immediately or may require action by maintenance staff or a contractor.

It is crucial for a Committee to have a system to record faults and defects that are identified outside the regular inspection program and to ensure that any such faults and defects are brought to the notice of the Committee. Such a system should not rely on casual contact or telephone calls but be a written record that includes details such as:

- · who identified the fault and defect
- the date it was reported to the Committee, and to which Committee or staff member
- correction action required, and
- dates the corrective actions were taken and by whom.

It is essential that prompt action be taken to investigate a matter and carry out the appropriate repairs.

It is particularly difficult to defend a case for liability for injury when the injury has occurred to a member of the public after a specific fault or defect has been reported to a Committee but has not been acted upon.

9.4 Maintenance

A well-documented, regular maintenance schedule should be kept for all facilities.

All facilities should be maintained in a safe condition. Failure to maintain facilities can have greater consequences than not providing them. For example, a stairway that is poorly maintained may be more dangerous than not providing access.

The Community Asset Committee should ensure that it allows for maintenance costs of facilities in the budget and that adequate provision is made for the increased maintenance requirement as the facility ages.

9.5 Emergency Diagrams and Procedures

The requirement for, or extent of emergency procedures will vary between facilities and will be based on its facilities and the type of emergency that could arise, e.g. sports grounds, buildings.

Where facilities are provided on a leasing arrangement (e.g. sports ground facilities to sporting clubs), Committee members should ensure that emergency arrangements are provided (for example Emergency Management Plan), such as adequate firefighting equipment, clear exits, standard exit signage, a building floor plan and fire orders in case of fire, and that the users of the facility have considered the need for an appropriate fire and evacuation drill.

Some facilities may already be identified as emergency response facilities.

9.6 Failure to meet Risk Management Requirements

Failure to meet the risk management requirements may result in Council taking over management of the facility until the issue can be resolved.

Council will make every effort to assist the Committee in achieving the requirements before this outcome takes place.

10 Security

A Committee needs to make its facility as safe as possible for all types of users. A facility may meet safety standards for its intended use but be unsafe for de facto uses that by default it attracts. For example, facilities such as car parks, footpaths, paved areas, etc., can become de facto skateboarding or bicycle rinks. If a person is injured undertaking such activities, even though they are (strictly speaking) trespassing, they can sue the Committee if the injury has been caused by the negligence of the Committee or its members or volunteers.

Similarly, a Committee may unwittingly create what is known as an "attractive nuisance". For example, a building site or swimming pool could be considered an attraction to any children in the area. Therefore, the Committee has an obligation to ensure that children and others cannot enter the site after hours and injure themselves.

Any community facility that is to be closed for a period should also be secured.

The emphasis on this type of security is not to prevent theft, but to minimize unauthorized use of a facility or area outside supervised times.

11 Events Management

All events on Council land need to be approved by Council, see www.hindmarsh.vic.gov.au/organising-an-event for more information. Notifying Council of a proposed

event can be done by completing an event application and submitting it to Council to determine whether any permits or requirements are needed such as:

- **Local Laws** road closures, traffic management, permission for public land access, alcohol consumption
- Planning permits to hold an event on private land
- Environmental Health temporary food permits
- Building permits for temporary structures such as fencing, stages and marquees
- **Engineering** waste management
- **Maintenance** servicing of public toilets
- Risk & Safety/Insurance Public Liability Insurance, event management plan, risk assessment

Contact Council to discuss your event as early as possible. A failure to allow enough time to obtain any necessary information or permits prior to your event may result in your event not being approved.

12 Document Control

Community Asset Comm	Policy Category		OPERATIONAL	
Version Number	1.1	Policy Status		Approved
Approved/Adopted By	Acting CEO	Approved/Adopted on:		08 December 2023
Approver Signature	MRevell			1
Responsible Officer		Review Date		08 December 2026
	Date	Version	Description	
Version History	April 2023	1.0	Establishment of Guidelines	
	December 2023	1.1	Review and approval	

Appendix 1 Committee Member Roles

Chairperson

The Chairperson facilitates the operation of the Committee through the chairing of meetings, ensuring administrative and reporting functions are carried out, chairing meetings, liaising between Council and the Committee and ensuring that all procedures and the relevant Instrument of Delegation is adhere to.

The main responsibilities are -

- to provide coordination, guidance and leadership to ensure the successful functioning of the Committee
- to represent the Committee in the public domain
- to ensure administrative, and other tasks from meetings are carried out
- to chair all meetings of the Committee
- to act as liaison person between the Committee and Council (although this can be delegated to another member of the Committee)
- to arrange to an annual report of the Committee to be prepared for presentation at the Annual General Meeting and to Council

During meetings, the Chairperson is responsible for ensuring that -

- meetings are convened
- a quorum is present for all decisions
- meeting decisions are properly recorded in the minutes
- the agenda is adhered to
- that the motions and amendments are unambiguous and otherwise in order
- all members are given the opportunity to speak
- the maintaining of order
- the business of the meeting is conducted
- voting rights
- a casting vote when necessary
- the announcement of the result of all votes is clear
- the management of discussion and preventing members from dominating to the exclusion of others.

In the absence of a Chairperson or Deputy Chairperson (if elected), the Committee shall elect another person to chair the meeting.

The Chairperson may vote on any motion considered by the meeting and in the event of a tied vote, the Chairperson may exercise a second or casting vote.

Secretary

The Secretary is responsible for responsible for administrative processes, arranging of meetings, keeping of the Agenda and Minutes, managing incoming and outgoing correspondence, and records-keeping.

The duties of the Secretary include -

- Arranging Committee meetings
- Preparing and sending out the agenda
- Arranging for inwards and outwards correspondence
- Maintaining all records and correspondence

- Receiving all incoming correspondence and bringing it to the attention of the Committee
- Writing and dispatching all outwards correspondence required by the Committee
- Keeping Committee members properly informed by sending them notices of meetings, agendas, copies of correspondence, reports, etc., as required
- Liaising with the Chairperson between meetings so that the business of the Committee is attended to and, in consultation with the Chairperson, to call extraordinary meetings as required
- Preparing the minutes of the previous meeting to be available and other relevant documents such as discussion papers
- Taking notes that will enable clear and accurate minutes to be written up
- Writing up the minutes
- Carrying out the follow-up actions that arises from the business of the meeting e.g. arranges correspondence
- Arranges Annual General Meetings.

Treasurer

The Treasurer is responsible for keeping the Committees financial records and transactions in good order, paying and receiving accounts for the Committee (within delegation), providing the Committee and Council accurate financial reports, keeping all invoices, receipts and financial records for auditing purposes.

The Treasurer's duties include:

- Maintaining a bank account in the name of the Committee (signatories to the account should be the Chairperson, the Secretary, and the Treasurer, with at least two to sign)
- Recording and banking money received
- Paying accounts as authorised by the Committee
- Keeping all invoices, receipts, cheque butts, bank statements etc., for audit purposes
- Ensures that accurate records of all transactions are maintained
- Assists the Committee in the preparation of the annual budget
- Preparing the annual financial report based on financial year (e.g. 1 July 2022 30 June 2023)
- Prepares and presents financial report for Committee meetings
- Reporting at each Committee meeting current details on bank balances, transactions since the previous report, the Committee's current financial position and any other information that the Committee may require
- Arranges the audit of financial statements
- Treasurers of Community Asset Committees are required to complete the Financial Report Form annually and submit to the Council as soon as is practicable after the end of financial year period.

Committee Members (non-office bearing members)

Non-office bearing members' duties include:

- Actively participating in Committee activities and business;
- Managing the facility, including preparation and implementation of management plans, financial plans and business plans and subsequent reporting against those plans;
- Attending all Committee meetings and participating in decision making; and
- Bringing to the Committee's attention any identified problems or issues.

Appendix 2 Liability Claim Procedures

All Public Liability claims should be forwarded directly to Hindmarsh Shire Council.

1. How and when claims are made

Community Asset Committees may be notified about incidents and potential claims from a variety of sources, such as direct contact from:

- the injured party or property owner or their respective agent
- police, ambulance or emergency service personnel
- media item
- legal representative or injured party of property owner, or
- observation of incident by Committee member or member of Council staff

Notification is usually by telephone or letter. In some instances, the first time the Community Asset Committee becomes aware of such an incident is when legal action has already commenced.

2. What to do on notification

Upon notification in writing or verbally:

- a. Make a note of how the letter or claim arrived by mail or hand delivered. If by hand, who delivered it?
- b. Do not make any remarks or comments about the incident to any person who delivered the letter or claim.
- c. Do not reply to any letter or claim.

Send the letter or claim and relevant incident report, including any names of witnesses and any notes or photos relating to the incident to Hindmarsh Shire Council.

If confronted by an angry or upset person it is important not to take their comments personally, and to:

- remain calm
- treat the person politely
- take notes about what they are saying
- do not admit responsibility for an incident
- ask the person to submit the claim in writing to Hindmarsh Shire Council
- contact Hindmarsh Shire Council and follow the course of action recommended.

It is important that you remain calm, listen to the concerns, and treat the person politely. Assure the person that Hindmarsh Shire Council will contact them in relation to their claim/concerns.

3. What not to do on notification

Whether the notification is in writing or verbally, to help reduce the likelihood of unnecessary claims being made, there are a number of things that should not occur:

- Do not admit responsibility for any incident. But do show empathy for the injured party
- Do not offer to pay any medical or other expenses. But do call an ambulance if needed
- **Do not** agree that any equipment or facilities were faulty

- **Do not** blame other Committee members, employees of other parties
- **Do not** argue or discuss the cause of the incident with the injured person or witnesses
- **Do not** conduct the investigation or fill out the incident report form in the presence of the injured person
- **Do not** discuss the incident at any time with any person other than an officer at Hindmarsh Shire Council
- Do not discuss the incident with the media

4. Incident and claim report

The Committee's responsibility is to provide the facts of the incident and report them to Council, NOT to make a decision on the validity or otherwise of the claim or potential claim. The Committee should immediately seek assistance from Hindmarsh Shire Council by contacting 03 5391 4444.

It is essential that as much information as possible is gathered as early as possible. The longer the time lapse between the incident and the investigation the less likely it is that information will be available or accurate. It is important that a report is made of potential and notified claims because a claim may not arise until many years after an incident occurred.

5. Admitting Liability

The admission of liability can, in some circumstances, void the insurance policy. One can be empathetic with an injured person but must be careful that any conversation is not misunderstood as an acceptance of liability. Under no circumstances should a Committee member admit liability.

Where any incident occurs, it should be reported immediately by telephone to Hindmarsh Shire Council, followed by the provision of a written report on the incident.